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Hearing commenced at 4.00 pm 
 
HON STEPHEN DAWSON 
Minister representing the Minister for Police, examined: 
 
Mr CHRIS DAWSON 
Commissioner of Police, examined: 
 
Mr STEPHEN BROWN 
Deputy Commissioner, Specialist Services, examined: 
 
Mr PAUL STEEL 
Acting Deputy Commissioner, Operations, examined: 
 
Mr FRANK PASQUALE 
Executive Director, examined: 
 
Mr JOHN CANDELORO 
Acting Chief Finance Officer, examined: 
 
Ms RENAE LAVELL 
Director, Human Resources, examined: 
 
Mr IAIN CAMERON 
Acting Commissioner of Road Safety, Road Safety Commission, examined: 
 
Ms TERESA WILLIAMS 
Director, Governance and Finance, Road Safety Commission, examined: 
 
 

The CHAIR: This is the 2018–19 budget estimates hearings for the WA Police Force. On behalf of the 
Legislative Council’s Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations, I welcome you to 
today’s hearing. Can the witnesses confirm that they have read, understood and signed a document 
headed “Information for Witnesses”? 

The WITNESSES: Yes. 

Hon DIANE EVERS: My first question is on page 333, the bottom dash point, so the very last line of 
page 333. I am just curious if you could give me some examples of what is meant by “new strategies 
necessary for a sustainable step change improvement in road trauma on urban and regional roads”. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Thank you, Madam Chair. I will ask acting commissioner for road safety, 
Mr Cameron, to provide an answer to that one, please. 

Mr CAMERON: Thank you for that question. This is all in the context of a new road safety strategy 
for Western Australia beyond 2020 as the current Towards Zero strategy ends. There is going to be 
a lot of discussion and consultation on what are the sorts of strategies and options that Western 
Australia and our community might consider if we are to get a step change. We have been making 
improvements since the start of our current strategy, which had an aspiration of 40 per cent. We 
have achieved a 28 per cent reduction in the number of people killed and seriously injured. The 
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40 per cent was at the time, and still remains, aspirational, but it has been publicly acknowledged 
many times that Western Australia still lags behind the best in Australia. There will be quite a lot of 
work commenced now in looking at the sorts of strategies and actions we need to consider as a 
community if we are to make a substantial and sustainable step change. That includes in both urban 
and regional areas consideration of speed limits. Most jurisdictions in the world are looking at their 
speed limits and while we have incremental change on our road network, there are certainly further 
opportunities for us. There is no commitment, there is no planning to that, but it is one of the things 
that we will need to talk about as a community. 

The other areas where, for example, in country run-off road crashes we are—recently, Indian Ocean 
Drive served as a very good example for us where we had 28 serious crashes over a five-year period. 
If we are to be aspirational as a state and really make progress, we cannot just keep reacting: we 
need to move to a more proactive response. That is a risk-based approach where we increasingly 
try to identify the risks on our network and take actions preventively. Indian Ocean Drive is a very 
good working example where a typical country road, traffic volume increased quite dramatically—
something in the order of 800 per cent over a number of years. There was a lot of public concern 
about that road and a lot of commentary around illegal or dangerous risk-taking behaviours. That 
actually was not the predominant problem. The predominant problem was, typically of our country 
roads, people drifting to the left or drifting to the right; otherwise attentive but perhaps distracted, 
a fraction tired, and drifting to the right. When you have an increase in traffic volume, there was a 
chance you would hit a vehicle coming the other way, instead of ending up in the ditch on the right-
hand side. 

A sustainable step change on a regional road, for example, may be beginning to look at the use of 
wide centre-line treatments, as is coming in on Indian Ocean Drive. There will be a metre separation 
between the lines down the centre of the road and they will be audible or tactile so that when 
somebody drifts to the centre, they will have a metre to recover before they are in the opposing 
lane. At the moment, you have got between 50 millimetres of white paint or a few centimetres, 
basically. The margin for error is minimal. To get a step change, we need to change the way we 
design and operate those roads. We cannot afford to gold plate; we never will. What we can do is 
look at length-based treatments, audible edge lines on the left, wide centre lines in the middle. 
Where the volume warrants it, we could put flexible barriers down the middle, which would be 
90 per cent effective in stopping any head-on crash. We cannot do that everywhere. Other 
sustainable step changes are perhaps instead of waiting until we can afford a full duplication and 
create two regional lanes going one way and two the other way and put a wide median in, cut a lot 
of bush down, we could actually bring those carriageways together and do what the Swedes have 
done and create two plus one. You begin to create two lanes one way and then you alternate it 
every kilometre or so, so we get mobility, relatively low cost and a safety gain. They are some of the 
examples of the step change–type changes in our practice that we need to consider. 

Hon DIANE EVERS: I am referring to page 333 again and the fourth dot point, regarding the 
development of an Aboriginal employment policy. What has motivated the development of this 
policy at this point in time? Also, how many Aboriginal people are employed currently as police 
officers and other staff? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask Commissioner Dawson to provide a response to that one, please. 

Mr DAWSON: As of 30 June 2017, the statistics provide that 1.9 per cent of WA Police Force 
employees identify themselves as Aboriginal Australians. We have equality initiatives in our 
recruitment processes. I am particularly keen and I am advancing the expansion of the Aboriginal 
cadet police program. In fact, I am using the Equal Opportunity Act in a positive way to recruit only 
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young Aboriginal people between the ages of 17 and 24 years of age. That program has been in situ 
now for some two years or 18 months to two years and in the last 12 months we have recruited 
about 22 such young cadets and we are expanding that for another 37 positions. A number of these 
cadets have now transitioned into the police academy for the sworn recruitment element of the 
program. I was very pleased to see four such Aboriginal cadets graduate out of the last recruit 
school. 

We are particularly targeting school leavers and those in that age cohort, because our research 
indicates to us quite strongly that that cohort is a very interested and active age group by which we 
can engage them at that point of their employment. We have much higher representation with our 
police auxiliary officers. We have 11.5 per cent identify as Aboriginals out of our auxiliary staff. They 
are the ones that do custodial care, some other allied not full-sworn duties. That, of course, is also 
pleasing to have over 10 per cent of that workforce identify as Aboriginals. We would want to 
continue that. In our wages staff we have some four per cent who identify, which on the norm in 
Western Australian statistics, you may be aware, it is about three per cent who identify as Western 
Australian Aboriginal people. 

It is a proactive manner in which we are doing it. We are getting a lot of positive feedback from 
them. I would add obviously the reasoning why I am pushing that so hard is that the 
overrepresentation of Aboriginal people in the justice system, not just those who are 
overrepresented in appearing in the courts or ultimately incarcerated, but there is a gross 
overrepresentation in victims as well. There is a lot of work that we have started and we are 
continuing. We are engaging further down the path of the reconciliation action plans and a whole 
series of other very symbolic but also very meaningful changes. 

[4.10 pm] 

Hon DIANE EVERS: I refer to page 332 and the spending changes table. For “Policing at 
Major Events”, why did this item’s spending change double from $881 000 in 2017–18 to 
$1.776 million in 2018–19? What major events do you anticipate coming to WA across the three 
forward estimates years that will require policing? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner to provide a response to that one, please. 

Mr DAWSON: The provision for the budget is due to several things. One is that the legislation, the 
Police Amendment Act, which amended the charging for services at major events, officially came 
into force in January this year. We have already commenced that process by which operators of 
venues such as Optus Stadium and/or other such venues are regularly now engaging with police in 
order to pay a user-pays process in addition to their contracted security personnel. The strong 
feedback we have had from the venue operators—it is not just sporting events; there were also 
music festivals and the like—is that they are actively coming forward and wanting a uniformed 
police presence at such events. We negotiate with them. There is a set fee. We are the lowest in 
Australia in terms of cost recovery. This is not built around any profit base but is simply a pure cost 
recovery for the labour costs of the police officers being used. We have successfully commissioned 
and, up until 31 March, provided a police service at some 34 sporting, music and food events. By 
way of example, at the Australia versus England one-day international cricket, further with the 
rugby, music events with well-known international artists, and food events and the like. We 
anticipate that the number of events will continue and I noted in my recent visit to the south west 
that 16 officers, for instance, were utilised at Bunbury at a recent music event down there. They 
would otherwise have been drawn down from normal policing rosters, which, at times, puts a lot of 
pressure on them, hence why the budget does make this provision on a pure cost-recovery basis. 

Hon DIANE EVERS: So is the figure shown on page 332 recovered on another page as income? 
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Mr DAWSON: Yes, it is a revenue provision, which is reflected in the budget papers for that reason. 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: I refer to pages 338 and 339 as they concern the helicopter replacement project. 
First of all, I will ask the basic question. I am presuming that the business case now has been 
prepared, it has gone through cabinet and there has been a tick-off for the expenditure of money 
for this purpose. My question is: what are we buying? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I might ask the commissioner to provide an initial response and then 
Deputy Commissioner Brown may wish to supplement that answer. 

Mr DAWSON: The business case that was put forward resulted in the government committing 
funding of $26.9 million to replace the existing Kawasaki BK 117. That is approaching the 30-year 
time frame and the normal operating life of an airframe for a helicopter is 30 years. The member 
may well be aware that we have procured a more recent acquisition in the last six to seven years of 
a Dauphin Eurocopter and that is for the different machining, tooling, training, checking and 
equipment regime. Ideally, we would like the airframes to be alike for efficiency purposes. 

In terms of your specific question about what type, we are too early in the process to identify any 
particular type of aircraft. We will be going through an RFT process and tender that with various 
suppliers. That is the normal procurement process that is underway. We are targeting a mid-range 
helicopter that is suitable for both patrolling and some of the other capabilities that we are required 
to deploy—to deliver, for instance, a tactical response group of officers encountering whatever, 
whether it be terrorism or armed offender–type situations. It is for multipurpose use, but we are 
seeking a helicopter that is cheaper to run than a more heavy lift. 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: When is it desirable to take delivery of the new helicopter, noting that the one 
you are replacing has come to its end of operational life? 

Mr DAWSON: The time frame that we estimate that we will go through the whole process and then 
become operational is in the operational year for 2021–22. We are confident that the existing two 
aircraft will remain operationally viable up until that time. 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: Commissioner, with respect to this replacement helicopter, can I ask how the 
acquisition will be financed? Will it be a straight-out purchase? Is it a leasing arrangement? Does it 
entail any maintenance from the manufacturer? 

Mr DAWSON: We anticipate at this point that, as we have with our other air fleet, we will go through 
a purchase arrangement but we will examine, through the procurement process, all the options that 
vendors may want to respond to the tender process. At this stage, it is predicated on a purchase. 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: What we often, obviously, see in budget papers is the capital cost of acquisition 
but are you in any position to identify what the through-life support costs might be for this new 
helicopter on an annualised basis? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: It might be “How long is a piece of string?”, member, but I will see what 
the commissioner can provide. 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: There is a model upon which you could foreseeably estimate what your ongoing 
recurrent costs are going to be. There is another one in the fleet. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Let us see what the commissioner can provide. 

Mr DAWSON: The answer in terms of dollar amounts I am unable to presently here provide. We 
may be able to provide some further information, should that be further sought. Certainly, the 
efficiencies, aside from the procurement, we would be seeking would be to optimise our existing 
personnel fleet. The recurrent costs, particularly with pilots, staffing and the technical flight officers 
et cetera and of course the maintenance schedule, we would be seeking to optimise by having both 
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airframes of the same type. That is our strategic aim. In terms of recurrent costs per annum, it will 
of course depend on the number of hours flown and the type of deployments that will be required. 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: Could I take that as a supplementary? 

The CHAIR: As much information as is able to be provided regarding recurrent costs of one aircraft. 

[Supplementary Information No D1.] 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: We shall certainly endeavour — 

The CHAIR: As much as possible. 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: Best endeavours. 

In relation to this item on page 339 of the budget papers, note (a) at the bottom of the table states 
it will be partially funded by the road trauma trust account. I would like to get a sense, for 
transparency’s sake, of why you would do that and what proportion or what quantum of funding 
are we talking about? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: It was determined that it would be appropriate to fund a percentage from 
what was used for operations for vehicle pursuits and other road safety–related activities. About 
38 per cent of the helicopter airborne time was spent on traffic duties, so consequently, 
$10.2 million was sought from the road trauma trust account with $16.1 million being provided from 
the consolidated account. Essentially, 38 per cent of the work at the moment is dedicated towards 
this area, so the decision was made by government to fund 38 per cent of the helicopter through 
this fund. 

[4.20 pm] 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: That is interesting to know, minister, since the management of the road trauma 
trust fund from time to time or expenditures made out of that account attracts some interest, so it 
is good to get a measure of transparency in relation to how that is being utilised. 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: This does not pertain to a specific page in the budget—not one that 
I was able to find, at least—but I am aware that Western Australia police have been developing a 
new approved commercial carrier policy for the transport of firearms within the state. I am also 
aware that this policy has changed at least a couple of times in the last year. So my first question is: 
can you advise if Western Australia police have engaged any external consultants in the 
development of this policy; and, if so, what were the costs associated? 

The CHAIR: Just to note, that would probably come under “Significant Issues Impacting the Agency”, 
just to link it back to the budget for the purpose of our exercise. Minister. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Thank you, Madam Chair. I am happy to provide an answer to that. 
Obviously this issue has been of much interest to members of the Legislative Council over the past 
few months, including Hon Rick Mazza, who is with us this afternoon. I might ask 
Deputy Commissioner Brown if he can respond to that one, please. 

Mr BROWN: Specifically in relation to that question, to my knowledge, we have not engaged any 
external consultants, nor, of course, paid any fees for that work. It has been heavily worked up by 
the agency itself and consulted widely over the last 12 months or so with industry, and that 
consultation continues today. 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: A quick follow-up question on that. Can you advise if the agency has 
undertaken a risk assessment for the transportation of licensed firearms in WA before 
implementing policy changes? If so, can you advise of any costs associated? 
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Mr BROWN: I am not aware as to whether at this point in time, to date, there has been a risk 
assessment as such undertaken. Clearly there was a lot of policy development work and 
considerations made, and the agency does have within its firearms area a considerable amount of 
materials that have formed the basis of the decisions and policy changes that have been put into 
place. 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: Thank you. Referring to page 332 and “Policing at Major Events”. We 
heard already why there was a spending change that doubled the spending since the previous 
financial year. I wonder perhaps, minister, or if the commissioner is aware that the Sporting 
Shooters’ Association of Australia SHOT Expo is occurring in October this year in Perth, and if an 
event such as that would fall under “Policing at Major Events”? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner to respond first of all. 

Mr DAWSON: I am personally unaware, unless one of my colleagues advises otherwise, that that 
particular expo has sought an application or submitted an application. The legislation is founded 
upon a venue operator or an event organiser applying. That is not something that police impose 
upon any person or any entity. Should they apply, we will obviously very closely pay attention and 
consider it and deal with the expo. 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: Thank you. You might be interested to know, in case you are not already 
aware, that due to the changes around the approved commercial carrier policy for firearm transport, 
many of the suppliers involved in that expo are actually uncertain if they will be able to attend this 
year, so the entire expo may be in jeopardy, but I will move on. 

The CHAIR: Thank you, member. It would be good if you could bring your questions back to the 
budget. 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: Thank you, Madam Chair. I certainly will endeavour to do that. 

Referring to page 338 and the speed camera replacement program, it was reported last month that 
some 53 000 speeding infringements would need to be reviewed after it was revealed that a batch 
of 11 new speed cameras were faulty. Were the cameras in question part of this replacement 
program? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I might ask Deputy Commissioner Brown if he is able to provide an answer 
to that. 

Mr BROWN: No, I am unsure. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Commissioner Cameron. 

Mr CAMERON: Yes. There were 11 recently acquired Jenoptik mobile speed cameras and they are 
part of a replacement program. 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: Through you, minister, since the fault was identified, how many 
infringements have been found to have been issued in error? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner to reply to that one, please. 

Mr DAWSON: There are two audits that have been undertaken; one still remains on. When the WA 
Police Force became aware of a number of matters, including one infringement which resulted in 
the identification of a woman driving a vehicle, that was one of 20 what I would characterise as 
irregularities out of an approximate number of 53 000 detected events. Of those 53 000 events, only 
one has been found to be in error, and that we have dealt with and continue to deal with that 
particular individual by way of compensation. Her vehicle was, in fact, seized. That caused us to 
review the total 53 000 events that had been detected through the Jenoptik cameras. No other 
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infringements were found. There were a total of 20 with some irregularities, but in 19 of the 20, 
infringements had not been issued. 

Having completed that first piece of work, a further audit was commissioned to go through the 
entirety once again, and my most recent briefing was that that second audit has not identified 
anything to date. 

Hon COLIN TINCKNELL: I noticed on page 332 that included in the 2017–18 budget estimates was 
a provision for the “Regional Workers Incentive Allowance Payments”, which amounted to 
$285 000. This is absent in the 2018–19 budget estimates onward. Therefore, can the minister 
please advise: was this a recurrent cost that has fallen victim to the cost cutting in the name of debt 
consolidation, and what was the incentive this money is funding? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I am advised the money is still there, but I will ask the commissioner to 
produce a more fulsome response to that. 

Mr DAWSON: My advice is that the regional workers incentive allowance payments, which were 
derived from the royalties for regions funding stream, does reflect in the forward estimates an 
amount totalling $7.467 million in the year 2019–20; in the year 2020–21, $7.508 million; and in the 
forward estimate for 2021–22, $7.508 million. My understanding is that that is an ongoing 
estimation. I have no other information to advise that the royalties for regions funding will lapse, 
and my discussions with the Minister for Police are such that I am confident that remains ongoing. 

Hon COLIN TINCKNELL: The budget estimates shows that the force will have a reduction of 106 FTEs 
in 2018–19—47 in the metro policing services, 25 in the regional policing — 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Member, if you do not mind, can I ask, do you have a dot point you are 
referring to or a page number? It is just for us to be able to navigate our files. 

Hon COLIN TINCKNELL: I thought this was on page 332. It is talking about reduction of FTEs. It is the 
last line item on page 332. I was referring to the reduction of 106 FTEs in 2018–19. Can the minister 
please explain where these losses will be absorbed and what percentage of these are sworn 
officers? 

[4.30 pm] 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner to respond on this issue. 

Mr DAWSON: At page 336 there is reference to the full-time equivalent number of employees. In 
respect of sworn police officers, we have been provided with an amount of some $25 million, which 
will enable us to provide an offer to 150 sworn police officers to make application for voluntary 
severance. That has been considered. I have been briefed as recently as this morning in regard to 
those. We have a list of candidates. We have been oversubscribed with the number of police officers 
who are interested in being considered for a voluntary severance. The basis of this is not to lower 
the number of police officers per se from our establishment, but to provide a staggered recruitment 
of officers to be replaced. Ideally, that would be at a lower rank. The rationale behind this is to 
enable some savings to be done on the salary differential between, for instance, a senior sergeant 
who may be nearing the end of his or her career who is voluntarily seeking a severance. We are 
considering that in terms of enabling us to then backfill. The number that is reflected in the budget 
papers simply provides a budget adjustment in a number for budget calculation purposes to 
cashflow the funding of FTE as they get re-recruited back through the police academy and are then 
redeployed. There is no intent, either by what the government informed me or indeed by me and 
my staff, to reduce the overall number of police officers. 
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Hon COLIN TINCKNELL: On page 335 I note that the key performance indicator for sworn police 
officer hours available for frontline policing duties is required to meet 75 per cent. Can the minister 
please advise whether this is a nationally consistent level for police officers available for frontline 
duties? If not, what was the difference in the way the WA Police Force has structured its workforce? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner to try to provide a response to this. We 
certainly do not have the information in front of us in relation to the KPIs in other states and 
territories, but I will ask the commissioner to provide what he can on this issue. 

Mr DAWSON: The KPI, as it is reflected, is measuring the number of officers who are unavailable, 
including those who may not be available for duty, whether they are exercising annual or long 
service or are unavailable due to sick or personal leave, or it reflects those officers who may be 
deployed in nonoperational areas. By having this measure it provides some transparency of the 
number of available officers who can be deployed for frontline operational duties. The 2017–18 
estimated actual reflects a calculation that has been identified since the publication of the 
Budget Statements. As a result, the revised figure is 74.6 per cent, which is some 0.4 per cent above 
the previous actual reflected in the 2016–17 budget. This is a continuation of what was a KPI in the 
previous budget to the current matter that is under consideration, except with the expectation that 
any changes to our deployment would be reflected as a performance measure. It is one I welcome. 
It does provide transparency on the number of officers that we can deploy. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I have some questions regarding 24-hour police stations. It is a question 
with a number of parts, because there is a range of information I would like you to provide. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I am not being difficult, but do you have a line item in the budget paper 
for the questions? It would help us to navigate our folders. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There is not a particular line item but I presume it comes under the cost of 
policing. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: That is okay; we will find it. It is just that if you had one available, it would 
help us to navigate our folders. Ask your question and we will find the answer in our files. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: In a broad sense, I suppose, it comes under page 336 and the cost of 
providing services, metropolitan and otherwise. There is no specific breakdown, which is the reason 
I am asking the question. What I would like to know is: How many police stations are now 24-hour 
police stations and where are they located? Have business cases been prepared for each of those 
stations and their operations? What is involved in keeping them open for 24 hours a day as opposed 
to more regular hours that would otherwise be adopted? How much of a draw is it on the police 
budget to keep them operating 24 hours a day? How would you measure their effectiveness as a 
policing tool in order to be able to assess whether it is a wise expenditure of funds and resources? 
Perhaps this is better directed to the commissioner, but if it were not for government policy to have 
them, would those resources be better utilised in some other means rather than in keeping stations 
open for 24 hours? The business at certain times in the morning might not actually warrant the 
expenditure of keeping a police officer or two there—for instance, the cost of lighting and heating 
and of monitoring and manning the lock-ups. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: That was a very detailed question with many, many parts. I will say from 
the outset that 24-hour police stations was a key 2017 election commitment of the McGowan 
government. As part of the 2017–18 budget process, an allocation of $1.05 million was provided by 
government to undertake works for the 24-hour police stations. Further to that, I will ask 
Acting Deputy Commissioner Steel to make a comment. We may perhaps finish up with the 
commissioner in relation to the last part of your question. 
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Mr STEEL: Firstly, in relation to your question on how many police stations are currently operating 
24/7, there are 10 in the metropolitan area. Those are Armadale, Cannington, Cockburn, Ellenbrook, 
Fremantle, Joondalup, Perth, Mandurah, Midland and Mirrabooka. In regional Western Australia, 
the 24-hour police stations are Albany, Broome, Geraldton and Kalgoorlie. In addition to those police 
stations, there are a number of police stations open for extended hours. Those are Ellenbrook, 
Cockburn and Armadale, all of which commenced in July last year. Those police stations provide a 
service to the community of Western Australia. We have not undertaken a cost–benefit analysis, as 
your question asked, in relation to the value of those. However, one of our key performance 
indicators as an agency is around community satisfaction. The feedback that the agency receives, 
both by officers at the police stations as well as through community forums, is that those 
communities feel that they are well serviced by a 24-hour police station and want the ability to 
access those police stations. In particular as we move to an eight-district model, it is important that 
there is a 24/7 police station in each of those eight districts, which is consistent with the restructure 
that the commissioner has set out previously. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner to supplement that answer. 

[4.40 pm] 

Mr DAWSON: In regard to the deployment of officers at police stations, it has been asked before, 
but in broad response to your question, should those officers not be responding to active counter 
activity at the front of those police stations in the early hours of the morning, my expectation—I 
have made this very clear to staff—is that they are not idle while they are deployed at a police 
station. Albeit, if there is a lesser number of persons coming through the doors to physically attend, 
yes, they are available for telephone response, but I have an expectation that they will use whatever 
time to complete police prosecution briefs, for attending to their general files and there are online 
training modules that are required. I would far rather that they complete mandatory training online 
and complete paperwork, which is necessary and required by the courts and other places, at times 
when they would otherwise be called on to attend urgent jobs. I would rather them do that work at 
quieter periods, as opposed to being tasked to do that at peak periods of work. My expectation is 
that even if there is a lower number of people coming into certain places, they will still be actively 
engaging in police work. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I understand and accept that this was an election commitment from 
government and it is being diligently put into effect and I accept that one of the KPIs for the police 
is customer satisfaction, or community satisfaction, but, I will put it this way, your department, or 
your service, has a limited number of resources available to it and one of your other performance 
indicators requires you to, I am sure, make the most effective use of those resources. Although I 
would like to have a police station at the end of my street manned 24 hours a day, seven days a 
week, and I would be a very satisfied community member, that may not be the most effective use 
of police resources. My question is: is there a more effective model for the utilisation of limited 
police resources than having these stations open 24 hours a day, seven days a week? Plainly, it had 
not been thought to be effective until the government required the police to implement that model. 
There was no business case or cost–benefit analysis carried out. How do we know that this is an 
effective way of spending public funds on policing that is actually making a difference rather than 
making people happy? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Member, before I hand over to the commissioner, I will just make the point 
again that this was an election commitment and WA police are carrying out that commitment. There 
is no plan to review this policy, but in terms of putting that on the table, I might ask the 
commissioner whether there is anything else he would like to say. 
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Mr DAWSON: The first point I would respond with is that the government, aside from making the 
commitment, did provide additional recurrent funding, which enabled police to recruit against that. 
Had that not occurred, I may respond in a different way, but the additional FTE that was provided 
in the budget papers enabled us to deploy against an increase in that budget line item. The second 
point I would make is that our measures for key performance indicators—ones that the community 
are particularly interested in—are our response to calls for police assistance, be it from our 
priority 1s through to priority 9s. We are meeting all those targets in terms of urgent calls for 
assistance. They are all within the green, if I might characterise it that way, for calls for assistance 
where our mobile police attend. That measure is, of course, in the metropolitan area due to 
geographic issues. That is telling me that we are meeting community calls for assistance. If it were 
otherwise, of course, I would be advising my minister. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Just on that, and you have my sympathies, commissioner, because I 
understand that you are constrained by not being critical of government policy in this regard, but it 
does seem to me government setting an arbitrary policy and not conducting a cost–benefit analysis, 
even if it means providing additional public resources for the police to be able to carry it out, it is 
not quite within the spirit of proper financial and resource management. You might be able to say, 
“Yes, there is a response time that has not suffered”, but are you able to say that the response time 
has been maintained despite the resources thrown into 24/7 police stations or because of 24/7 
police stations, and would the draw on resources be as much if it were not for this arbitrary 
government policy, election commitment notwithstanding? Are you able to say? Do we have 
figures? Do we have some material that we can say provides evidence to support that this is a good 
idea? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: There are no specific figures, but I will make the point, member, that you 
have spent years on the treasury bench as part of a government that made many arbitrary decisions. 
In fact, it was a very profligate — 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Yes, and we have been told that all that has changed under the new regime, 
so perhaps if you could just address the question. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: As I said, we made commitments at the last election. The community 
supports these commitments. In fact, we know anecdotally, the commissioner has said, it is 
supported by the community. There is no intention to change this policy. Equally, there are no 
figures kept at this stage on them, but I am sure we will have many more conversations into the 
future and perhaps at some stage there may well be a review. But at this stage the delivery of these 
24-hour police stations continues and the community expects and appreciates the service. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Can I just ask one further question on that point, and this is in the light of 
the Langoulant inquiry and his recommendations. Has the government applied any of those 
recommendations to this particular election commitment and policy, so we know where the money 
went, for example, what it is being used for and whether it is being used effectively? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: As the commissioner said, additional resource was provided to WA police 
to enable them to open and staff these 24-hour police stations. We know what that amount was, 
and that is in the budget. So, it is there plain to see. In the terms of the numbers of people using 
those stations, we do not have that information in front of us, but I say again that the community 
supports these 24-hour police stations and we will continue to make sure that those communities 
get to access them. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: So, the answer is no. 

The CHAIR: Thank you, member, for the editorial. 
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Hon MARTIN ALDRIDGE: I would like to go to some of the questions that I asked prior to the hearing. 
I want to thank the minister and the Police Force, as well as the Road Safety Commissioner, for 
answering at least some of them. I want to progress a line of questioning around the procurement 
of the new, or shall I say the replacement, WA Police Force helicopter. I want understand a couple 
of things first. The Minister for Road Safety, who is also the Minister for Police, issued a direction 
under section 6A of the Road Safety Council Act 2002 to the Road Safety Council on 22 March 2018 
that was tabled—albeit beyond the 14 days required by the act—in both houses of Parliament on 
10 April 2018, to which the Road Safety Council responded to the minister on 3 April 2018, which is 
included in the answers to questions asked prior to hearings. What I want understand is that in the 
recommendations made by the chairman of the Road Safety Council, Mr Iain Cameron, the council 
recommended that it did not support the proposal as submitted and it did not recommend a 
modified proposal for the expenditure of road trauma trust account funds. Can I take from that that 
the government submitted to the Road Safety Council a modified proposal to the one that it 
originally submitted, which was that the entire police helicopter was to be funded by the road 
trauma trust account? 

[4.50 pm] 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I am advised that there was no modified proposal submitted. Essentially, 
what happens is the council is required to provide advice to the minister, but the minister responds 
to that advice however she sees or feels the need to. 

Hon MARTIN ALDRIDGE: Would I be correct in assuming then that the Road Safety Council, to this 
day, has not recommended to the minister expenditure of funds from the road trauma trust account 
for a police helicopter? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: If I can draw the member’s attention to that letter signed by Mr Cameron 
on 3 April, that is the sole advice from the Road Safety Council. It is up to the minister to decide 
what course of action she needs to take into the future. The advice that you have from the Road 
Safety Council is there. 

Hon MARTIN ALDRIDGE: Nothing has transpired differently since 3 April 2018, when the Road Safety 
Council made a recommendation to the minister. Understanding that, the minister has then 
obviously not taken the advice nor the recommendation of her expert Road Safety Council and has 
overridden, essentially, or ignored their recommendation to allocate funding to the new WA police 
helicopter? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: As a result of this decision, the minister elected to part-fund the helicopter 
from the road trauma trust account. That is back to the about 38 per cent figure I used earlier on. 
We know that 38 per cent of the tasks undertaken by the helicopter are related to traffic 
enforcement. As a result of that data being available, the minister made a decision that 38 per cent 
of the helicopter would be funded by the road trauma trust account. 

Hon MARTIN ALDRIDGE: Understanding that, minister, page 2 of the letter from the Road Safety 
Council to the minister states — 

The Council acknowledge the WAPF helicopter service is of benefit to the community; 
however, when assessed against the principles normally used to consider RTTA funding 
proposals, the Council was not able to identify evidence of quantifiable road safety benefits 
and cost benefits. 

Despite you saying and the police claiming that 38 per cent of the helicopter’s use will be for traffic 
enforcement, the independent road safety experts in this state charged with advising the road 
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safety minister could not find any evidence that there would be any “road safety benefits and cost 
benefits”. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Member, the minister and, indeed, the south west community and, in fact, 
the community in Western Australia, I am sure, would share a different view that this is an important 
asset and it helps protect lives. Therefore, as a result of that view, the minister directed funding be 
provided from the road trauma trust account in the order of 38 per cent of the cost of the helicopter. 
You have the advice from the Road Safety Council. The minister and, I think, indeed, the Western 
Australian community would have a different view that this helicopter and the service it provides 
saves lives, so it is a legitimate use of the road trauma trust account. 

Hon MARTIN ALDRIDGE: Minister, I would take the advice of the expert Road Safety Council before 
I did a straw poll on what you think the community thinks. 

I want to go on to another quote from page 2 of the Road Safety Council’s letter, which states — 

There is an opportunity cost which limits the funding available for other initiatives that may 
reduce the number of crashes where people are killed or seriously injured. The proposal to 
apply RTTA funds for the purchase of the WAPF helicopter will reduce the ability to allocate 
funding to such projects. 

Minister, can you tell me, given that your government has now committed $10.221 million from the 
road trauma trust account across the budget year and forward estimates, what life-saving road 
safety projects will not be funded as a result of your government’s decision? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: That is a hypothetical question. Again, how long is a piece of string? I am 
not sure what projects are out there, but government made a decision—the minister made a 
decision that this helicopter saves lives and it is a legitimate use of the road trauma trust account to 
fund a proportion of this helicopter. That is the decision that has been made. In terms of who might 
put applications in in the future, I could not possibly comment. 

Hon MARTIN ALDRIDGE: Let me ask this a different way, minister. The 2018–19 budget and the 
expenditure of road trauma trust account funds—what recommendation did the Road Safety 
Council make to the minister under the Road Safety Council Act 2002 for expenditure of funds in 
2018–19? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Madam Chair, we do not exactly have that information with us, so I am 
happy to provide, by way of supplementary information, to the member the desired information he 
requests. 

If you do not mind, member, please ask the question again just to clarify exactly what we are going 
to give you. 

Hon MARTIN ALDRIDGE: What I would like is: for the 2018–19 budget year, what recommendations 
did the Road Safety Council make to the minister for expenditure from the road trauma trust 
account? What I want to then work out is which projects will not proceed because of the allocation 
of funds for the procurement of a new police helicopter. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: We will take it away and provide you with as much of the detail that we 
can in relation to the question. 

[Supplementary Information No D2.] 

Hon RICK MAZZA: My question is on budget paper No 2, line 17 on page 332, in relation to 
“Countering Violent Extremism—Living Safe Together”. I note that the funding is ceasing for that. 
Given that the funding ends in 2017–18, what measures are in place to combat the threat of violent 
extremism in Western Australia into the future? 
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Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask Deputy Commissioner Brown if he can provide a response to that, 
please. 

Mr BROWN: Primarily the funding for this program of work comes out of the Australia–New Zealand 
Counter-Terrorism Coordinating Committee, which funds, currently, 1.6 FTE within the agency—0.6, 
in fact, with a full-time FTE being provided by the agency going forward. My understanding is that 
our commitment to countering violent extremism in the state is enduring, ongoing and will not 
diminish over time. 

Hon RICK MAZZA: Whereabouts is the funding for that for future years? 

Mr BROWN: The specific funds are contained within the FTE allocation for that piece of work and 
primarily that is what forms the basis of the effort that is required. 

Hon RICK MAZZA: I refer to volume 2, page 338, and the sixth dot point on that page, “Information 
and Communications Technology”. Why has the $7 million been brought forward into the 2018–19 
year? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask Mr Pasquale to respond to that one, please. 

[5.00 pm] 

Mr PASQUALE: The $7 million has been brought forward to 2018–19 from 2021–22 to upgrade the 
radio core and telecommunications intercept systems and implement stronger cybersecurity 
measures. 

Hon RICK MAZZA: What is the current condition of that intercept system? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Again, I will ask Mr Pasquale to reply, please. 

Mr PASQUALE: They are basically existing systems that are just being enhanced to obviously 
improve their capability and their resilience. 

Hon RICK MAZZA: Has the system ever come under cyber attack? 

Mr PASQUALE: Not to my knowledge. I have only been with the agency a short period of time, but 
not to my knowledge. 

Hon RICK MAZZA: My last question is page 344, under “Income”, “Fines”. I asked this question, I 
think, last year. The firearms licensing infringements for 2016–17 are $58 000 and through the 
forward years that goes up almost double to $100 000 per year, which was in the last lot of budget 
papers, too. I am just wondering why there is an anticipation that those fines will dramatically 
increase. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner to reply to that one, please. 

Mr DAWSON: In relation to the 2017 income for administered items, it is broadly in line with the 
budgeted expectations. The Firearms Act and the Firearms Regulations enable police to issue 
infringements as an alternative option to dealing directly with firearm offences by way of criminal 
charge. They relate mostly to non-renewable firearm licences within three months of the expiration 
of that due date. Infringements have been issued by the police force for many years under the 
provision, as the member may be aware. There are other infringements that we regularly and 
routinely issue for other matters, including under the Criminal Code et cetera, but that is our 
response in terms of firearms. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Minister, why has the state government increased GROH rents when the 
average rental prices across the state are actually decreasing? 



Estimates and Financial Operations Tuesday, 19 June 2018 — Session Four Page 14 

 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Sorry, member, I did not hear the first part of that question, but before 
you do, are you referring to a specific line item in the budget? If not, that is okay. If you are, tell us; 
if not, just ask me the question again. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: I do not have specific numbers or lines. They are all very straightforward 
questions so we should not have any problems. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Sure. The standard practice in this session is to relate to the budget papers 
because we have significant information in these files in front of us, so it is to actually ensure that 
we can find stuff for you. Having said that, ask your question and we will see what answer we can 
provide. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Why has the state government increased GROH rents when the average 
rental price increases are decreasing across the state? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I understand that the former government built in a $30-a-year increase 
for GROH housing, not just for police, but generally for government officers, including teachers, 
nurses and others. The quality of housing in country areas is very important for police officers and 
so is the amount they have to pay for it. Over a long period of time, different locations have had 
different arrangements. Some country centres do not have GROH housing; some of the locations 
do. There are currently 55 regional locations where police officers do not pay rent. We have looked 
at various ways of incentivising police to go to the country. Formerly, during the Gallop–Carpenter 
governments, there was the introduction of a 44-hour week in Kalgoorlie and a range of other 
locations, which provided an additional financial incentive for people to go to those locations. The 
regional workers incentive allowance payments provide additional payments to officers deployed 
in regional locations. An additional $7.3 million will be spent in 2018–19 on the payments, which is 
an increase on the previous year. The Western Australia Police Force did not pass on the $30-a-week 
rent increase in 2016–17 due to concerns about the impact on the attraction and retention of police 
officers in regional areas. Rents were increased by $10 per week from 20 January 2017. However, 
in the current financial year, the full $30 per week rent increase was passed on. I am not sure, 
commissioner, if there is anything else that you want to say in relation to that. That is the probably 
the full answer I have got. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Does the government plan to increase GROH rents further in the 2019–20 
budget; and, if so, by how much? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: It is my understanding that rents will again increase by a similar amount 
in the 2019–20 year. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Is the government planning further increases to GROH rents in the forward 
estimates; and, if so, by how much? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: It is my understanding that the increases are built in in 2018–19 and 2019–
20. There are no further increases built in to the forward estimates. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Has there been an allocation made in the budget or forward estimates for a 
police compensation scheme? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I am advised that there has not been an allocation put in at this stage. 
However, there is work happening across government at the moment in relation to this issue. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Can you advise me if there is a time line for the introduction of a scheme? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: The short answer is as soon as possible. I am aware of a number of 
conversations that have happened in meetings that I have been involved in—I will not say what they 
are called—in relation to this issue. We are continuing to work on workers’ compensation 
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arrangements for police officers and a redress scheme for police officers who are medically retired 
due to work-related illness or injury. Regrettably, neither scheme was implemented during the last 
government’s time, but we are certainly making it a priority for this government. I am aware that 
there have been a number of discussions with the Medically Retired Western Australian Police 
Officers Association and, of course, the WA Police Union. I know the commissioner is committed to 
progressing the schemes, as is the minister. Our first priority is to deliver the redress scheme, which 
would recognise medically retired police officers who have suffered a work-related illness or injury. 
In relation to workers’ compensation, it is important to note that currently police officers receive a 
range of benefits in lieu of workers’ compensation, so they are entitled to 168 days’ paid sick leave 
or injury leave a year and to also have their medical costs covered under existing arrangements. 
Notwithstanding that, the work continues across government and certainly it is a priority of both 
the commissioner but particularly the Minister for Police. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Can you advise if there has been an allocation made in this budget or forward 
estimates for stab-proof ballistic vests or body armour for police? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: The answer is no. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Is there a time line for introduction at all? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I might ask the commissioner to answer that and to give the member a bit 
of detail of the conversations and work that is ongoing in this space. 

Mr DAWSON: There has been an indication from various vendors. I may be corrected, but I think in 
the order of nine vendors have responded who are able to supply vests for evaluation. That process 
is being led by the principal of the police academy, with technical assistance from our operational 
safety and tactics area. They are currently completing that piece of work. I have an expectation that 
the corporate board that I head will receive a full business case as a consequence of that evaluation. 
We are also benchmarking that against other Australian police jurisdictions. Some of the 
considerations that we are giving are that there is an existing low-bearing vest that police are issued 
with in which various, what we call in police speak, accoutrements are provided, such as tasers, 
firearms, batons, capsicum spray and the like and torches. We are seeing models where vests that 
are much more lightweight than earlier versions that had ballistic properties as well as stab-proof 
protection may be integrated into a low-bearing vest or whether in fact there is another model that 
may provide for another vest over top of an existing one that is worn underneath or as a part of a 
uniformed officer’s uniform. That is the process that is presently underway. Those experts have 
done quite several months work on that. That process has not yet resulted in a business case being 
presented to our corporate board. I have got an expectation that within the next several months 
that work will have been completed, and I would be expecting that unless I can find budget within 
my discretionary allocation, I would be putting a business case to government seeking additional 
funding. 

Hon CHARLES SMITH: Lastly, has there been an allocation in the budget or forward estimates for 
body worn video for police? 

[5.10 pm] 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Again, no, not at this stage. However, there is some work happening in 
this space too, which I will invite the commissioner to outline. 

Mr DAWSON: An almost identical response to my previous response regarding the ballistic or stab-
proof vests; similarly a business case. In this case, I expect that that is all but complete. I received a 
briefing last Friday from the assistant commissioner that is fully briefed on that matter. We have 
this embodied within a digital policing program of works and I am advised, as of the verbal briefing 
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I received, that the business case is all but complete and I expect that if not the next board meeting, 
the following one I will be able to consider that with my colleagues at the board. I expect that the 
model that would be put forward, I have seen in interim briefings, opportunities for us to deploy, as 
we did through a trial that was done over the last 18 months, that there are many gleanings from 
that trial, and whether we would issue the volume of them for individual officers that are routinely 
deployed on the front line or whether we would mix and match depending on the available 
deployment. The cost is not so much in terms of body-worn videos themselves. The apparatus is 
well proven, demonstrable and used very globally across law enforcement, not only in Australia but 
in the UK and USA. The main cost is in the storage retrieval of any digital evidence that has being 
captured. Of course we have disclosure requirements to the courts to ensure that any such evidence 
that is captured is able to be both stored, retrieved and used for any future prosecution or indeed 
any review such as a coronial matter, should we record those such matters. That is where most of 
the cost and the matter is for consideration. And depending on that, will be of course the quantum 
we would arrive at and put a business case to government. 

Hon KEN BASTON: On page 332, “Significant Issues Impacting the Agency” and obviously you are 
trying to set a safe and secure environment for the community, and also on page 333 — 

“Broad and complex social issues continue to contribute to people being offenders and 
victims. To strengthen crime prevention … 

It has been put to me that they could be used and that is that you have a canine squad and in the 
use of that in regional areas, particularly in places like Kununurra and Broome. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Member, thank you for the question. Before I hand over to the 
commissioner, in fact the canine squad is in operation in regional Western Australia and I know from 
Port Hedland, and in fact the South Hedland shops where my office is located, we regularly, 
sometimes daily, have the local dog out and about with its handlers. So it is an operation in regional 
Western Australia; however, I will ask the commissioner to reply initially and then Acting Deputy 
Commissioner Steel might provide some supplementary information. 

Mr DAWSON: We have in the order of—and my colleague might correct me—some 48 to 50 dogs 
that are currently within the police force capability. Those dogs undertake a number of different 
capabilities, as I might express it that way. Some are drug detection dogs, others have been trained 
for public order, for tracking and pursuing persons that we are trying to apprehend. There are also 
additional capabilities aside from detecting drugs and persons. Some are able to be trained to detect 
firearms, ammunition and explosives and there are opportunities to also expand that for locating 
currency. They are a very important asset, of course, with specialised handlers. The minister made 
reference to a dog that has been deployed in the Pilbara. That dog is the first of what we describe 
as dual purpose. Previously, they have had only one special training capability. In this case, the dog 
that is deployed in the Pilbara has both general tracking and apprehension capabilities, but has also 
been doubly trained for drug detection as well. That has been a very successful deployment. We 
intend to expand the dog and the handler’s capabilities by engaging more of them more in dual 
training. We are going through an expansion in terms of not only capability but changing the breed. 
We are finding that the existing type of dogs that have been recruited, generally the German 
shepherd breed, are now being replaced by a Belgian shepherd, which does provide some additional 
robust capabilities, I will express it again, for better deployment for police work. We have, in the 
regional areas, Bunbury, Kalgoorlie, Albany, Port Hedland and Geraldton to my recall, are the 
present regional deployments. We do not have one at Broome or Kununurra at this point in time. 
They of course require a lot of money in terms of both buying and/or breeding the dogs, their 
ongoing training, veterinary costs and of course the handlers deployed with them. If I had my 
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druthers, yes I would deploy more and we would be looking to expand within what budget 
appropriation we have. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I might ask Acting Deputy Commissioner Steel if he has got any further 
information. 

Mr STEEL: The commissioner mentioned Bunbury and Geraldton, I believe we also have a dog in 
Albany and another dog in Karratha. One of the other things that we are able to do on a regular 
basis is deploy dogs from the metropolitan area to regional areas for a time, and this can assist with 
local operations; that includes both general purpose dogs and drug detection dogs. As we move into 
a paradigm where we have more of the dual purpose dogs, that will become an increased capability. 
Dogs have certain issues. They suffer from not only congenital diseases, as we found out with some 
of the breeds around German shepherds, but also working in hot climates, so Kununurra for example 
may be problematic due to the reduced working time a dog can actually operate. Those are some 
of the conditions that are considered when we work out where we are best to deploy those dogs. It 
is an area that we are increasing capability in, not only in our dog selection and our dual purpose 
handling, but also in terms of how we select dogs, train dogs and the general knowledge within that 
particular facet of our business, to ensure that we can make the most appropriate resource 
allocation decisions around where to place our dogs and what dogs to procure. 

Hon KEN BASTON: Dingos have lived there for a long time in the heat. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: The dingos have, but the Belgian and German shepherds have not yet. And 
I do not want to get into an international stoush about which breed or which nationality is better, 
but I think there is plenty of work going on. 

Hon KEN BASTON: That is good. 

Hon KYLE McGINN: I just have a question in reference budget paper volume 2, page 336, “Regional 
and Remote Policing Services”, particularly around the Kalgoorlie region. There has been a lot of 
media and social media around crime rates, particularly over the past 12 months. Following on from 
the Minister for Police and the commissioner’s recent visit to Kalgoorlie, can the minister please 
provide an update on policing in Kalgoorlie? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Unfortunately, member, I cannot as minister. But certainly Commissioner 
Dawson will happily provide an update. 

[5.20 pm] 

Mr DAWSON: As the member stated, I did accompany Minister Roberts and I have been to 
Kalgoorlie I think on three or four occasions in the 10 months I have been commissioner. In my most 
recent visit I not only observed, I got strong feedback from many community members that I spoke 
to, including the present CEO of the Kalgoorlie–Boulder local government. There is a very high visible 
police presence. Superintendent Gaunt and his staff, a new officer in charge at Kalgoorlie Police 
Station, have actively changed the patrolling footprint in and around the Kalgoorlie–Boulder central 
business district, through both foot and mobile patrols. They are working very closely with the 
Kalgoorlie–Boulder local government business with business proprietors. I also met with senior 
Aboriginal elders and counsellors, additionally working with the liquor industry and general 
community businesses. That has been complemented in terms of the feedback I receive directly and 
supported by a reduction in what has been some increase in crime over the last several years. 

That has been supported further by the numbers of youth that have been present on the streets. 
We recently attended and there has been an expansion to the PCYC facility, which has enabled 
further young persons, not exclusively but many Aboriginal, and non-Aboriginal, youth are now 
further engaged in a variety of activities through the PCYC through the expansion of both their 
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facilities and programs. Sustaining this will, of course, be a matter that I would like to continue and 
certainly in my discussions with Deputy Commissioner Operations and the Assistant Commissioner, 
Regional Western Australia—I am actively looking to see whether we can support the work of 
Superintendent Gaunt and his officers by way of any additional resources that may be available. So, 
we are on the cusp of considering that. It is a matter that is deserving of some further attention. 
There has been, as the member may be aware, some slight increase in antisocial and some crime 
rates and that I think is now deserving of a potential increase. 

Hon KYLE McGINN: I think it was asked a bit earlier in respect of the Aboriginal employment, 
particularly in the Kalgoorlie region, has anything been done to increase the engagement of 
Aboriginal officers? 

Mr DAWSON: Yes, our most senior Aboriginal police liaison officer, Ian Tullock, a very experienced 
officer, has recently been transferred to Kalgoorlie. That is supplemented by three other Aboriginal 
officers. We are actively recruiting from the goldfields to further support those Aboriginal officers 
who are invaluable, to be blunt, in terms of supporting the broader police work within not just 
Kalgoorlie–Boulder but within the goldfields and particularly up in the central lands. We know that 
every effort we put in to getting closer engagement with Aboriginal communities is being very much 
not only complementary to the broader police work. I am particularly pleased to advise the house 
that we have at Warakurna a sergeant in charge, Revis Ryder, and he is assisted by Acting Sergeant 
Wendy Kelly, both Aboriginal persons, staffing and fully operating in an Aboriginal community. That 
is a tremendous model that I would like to further replicate and that I think is the ideal that we 
would like to seek to pursue by further deploying more Aboriginal officers. It is not to say that non-
Aboriginal officers cannot and do not do good work, but the cultural bridge that can be crossed and 
engaged with Aboriginal people and communities by Aboriginal police officers is optimum. 

Hon LAURIE GRAHAM: Minister, I refer to budget paper No 2 on page 332 in relation to the spending 
changes table and in particular the wheatbelt safety review. There is funding provided in the 2018–
19 and 2019–20 year for the Great Eastern Highway and for the Toodyay Road improvements in the 
2018–19 year only. Obviously, as a local member in that area, I have received plenty of feedback 
from the community, particularly about Toodyay Road and the issues that the community believes 
with that road. Minister, can you please outline what road safety treatments have been undertaken 
to date and what is proposed? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I thank the member for the question. I might ask Acting Commissioner 
Cameron to provide an answer to that. 

Mr CAMERON: I think we are probably all aware that the crash rate in the wheatbelt region is almost 
double the rate for regional Western Australia at about 110 serious crashes per 100 000 persons. 
Although other regions have an elevated crash risk, this is certainly one of the challenging areas. 
That is a crash rate approximately five times the state average. There are a number of roads in the 
wheatbelt region, including Toodyay Road, which has the highest serious crash density in the region. 
There has been quite a number of works underway over a period of time. In 2017–18, there was 
approximately $4.8 million out of the road trauma trust account funding, and that was for Toodyay 
Road. There were a number of intersection improvement works conducted and that included 
Lilydale Road. That was February 2017 that was completed; Preedy Road, completed in June 2017; 
Stoneville and Reen, there is some work underway there, and that was anticipated to be finishing 
approximately now; Roland and O’Brien intersection project, completion anticipated around now; 
Old Coach Road, project completion anticipated for later this year, in August; Reserve Road, 
again August this year we expect those works to be completed; and Stanley Road, later this 
year, November 2018. 
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There was also some further works in the wheatbelt from the trust account on Great Eastern and 
Great Southern Highways. In 2017, there was just over $1 million from the trust account. That has 
contributed to detailed designs for Carrabin realignment, stages 1 and 2, which includes passing 
lines and an alignment option study. There is the preliminary work on the geotechnical and 
pavement side of things, pre-construction activity, which involves moving and relocating services 
that need to be moved before they can make the road improvements, and a lot of work on the land 
acquisition and environmental approvals and the design and installation of safety barriers. In 2018–
19, Main Roads will continue that work on these roads and that is ultimately going to include further 
improvements, including shoulder widening and sealing, which I referred to earlier in the evening. 
That is one of the priority treatments where we are getting significant crash reduction savings. 

I might add, a single vehicle crash on a regional road is our most predominant crash type, whether 
that is run to the left or run to the right. I think it is very important that we understand that is not 
necessarily a risk-taking behaviour by a person at the wheel. It may not necessarily be due to 
speeding or drink-driving and, clearly, they may be wearing a seatbelt. Our enforcement efforts 
continue in those regards and there are certainly more challenges for us in regional areas. The 
government’s commitment to a regional traffic enforcement unit, which is underway, started earlier 
this year. That will give us a highly visible policing presence over and above the activities that we 
already have. 

But on the roadworks side of things the shoulder widening and sealing, there will be work done to 
realign at Jimperding Brook and there will be further passing lanes considered at the wheatbelt 
safety review, the Toodyay Road program. There is also further land acquisition there, more pre-
construction activities, which includes service relocations and that is both for Toodyay Road and 
also for Great Eastern Highway and Great Southern. What Main Roads are doing on a priority basis 
and a scheduling of works basis is working through a series of stages. We will see some variations in 
the budget from year to year and some of those essentially are when they are doing pre-
construction and approvals works, ready for a full capital works program going forward. But there 
are significant treatments. Their forecast installations for the forward estimates include more 
funding for data collection, research and analysis and then, depending on that, they may be 
requesting further funds for additional sites. 

The other thing I would like to mention is with a lot of rural intersections being a significant issue, it 
is not cost-effective always to do massive construction works and there is also a limited rate at which 
we can improve some of those rural intersections. Main Roads are looking to trial a new approach 
that has been used in New Zealand. It is called a rural intersection advance warning sign. I think it 
has had at least three or four years’ experience in New Zealand, where essentially you have a 
country road that may have a slightly higher volume of traffic on it but you have a side road that 
comes in and that may have very low frequency of traffic on it. Motorists may realise there is an 
intersection there, but human nature being human nature, I drive that road many times and for 
months at a time I never see another vehicle coming through on the side road. 

I will not say it is complacency, but it is around that expectation of the motorists. What New Zealand 
has found, and they have similar situations to us, even though they are a much smaller country, is 
in the remote regional and rural areas where you have these very low volume intersections, it is 
problematic being able to allocate enough funding to treat a number of them. This rural intersection 
advance warning sign, essentially, when installed, will warn motorists that there is a vehicle on the 
other road and there is the potential for a collision. There will be a signal that flashes. I think we are 
looking at various options, which will include just warning of another vehicle versus also flashing a 
temporary speed limit reduction. In other words, if the speed limit is 110, it may flash advising the 
motorist to slow down to 90. That is really important for those right-angle crashes and we believe, 
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potentially, there is a cost–benefit ratio of 10 to one, which means essentially every dollar we spend 
on those advance intersection warning signs could give us a tenfold reduction in crash savings. For 
our regional road safety treatments, that is really significant and it is something we are very pleased 
to be able to trial going forward. I guess there are a lot of works that members would be aware of 
that are typical, but that rural intersection sign is quite a significant change. 

[5.30 pm] 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: Continuing a theme about enforcement of traffic laws, I want to draw attention 
to pages 332, 333 and 335. With respect to pages 332 and 333, what order of priority am I to read 
into the extensive list of significant issues presented for consideration here? Where does the 
enforcement of traffic laws fall into the order of priority? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner if he can reply to that one, please. 

Mr DAWSON: I will attempt to provide some enforcement priorities. There are some known 
contributors to crashes that resulted in persons killed or seriously injured. They commence with 
excessive speed. There are a number of others well-known through global, academic law 
enforcement research throughout Australasia that is ongoing, supported by work from our Road 
Safety Commission experts as well, that tell us, aside from speeding: seatbelts; substances such as 
alcohol and/or other drugs; and inattentive, distracted driving, whether it be through mobile devices 
or others, are all known contributors. Our enforcement is predicated — 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: Commissioner, I understand that. Perhaps I did not phrase my question clearly 
enough. WAPOL has presented an extensive list of significant issues impacting the agency. No 
sensible person can read through this list and appreciate what order of priority those significant 
issues are provided by WAPOL. I do not contradict any of your answers, sir, but that was not the 
question I was seeking. Where does the enforcement of traffic laws and targeting driver behaviour 
rank in the significant issues facing WAPOL? Is it a first, second or third order priority? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner, because it is the commissioner’s issue, but I 
will just make the point that I have been in these hearings previously where agencies have been 
chastised for not having fulsome lists of those significant issues — 

Hon TJORN SIBMA: There is no implicit criticism. We are here to ensure that the agency is 
appropriately funded and that funds are allocated to issues which merit that funding. The reason I 
asked that question is because on page 335, under “Outcomes and Key Effectiveness Indicators”, I 
am confused by the target for the “Percentage of traffic law enforcement contacts made by police 
officers that target ‘Category A’ offences” and those category A offences are listed under the table; 
I will not go into that. Why is it that in 2016–17, the actual figure was 98.3 per cent and in 2017–18, 
the estimated actual was 98 per cent, but the target for 2018–19 is 90 per cent, as it was for the 
year before? Why are targets being set? Am I to assume that there is a diminution in resource 
allocation or priority given to this issue? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: That was really helpful, that homing in to page 335. In terms of the key 
efficiency indicators, there is a fairly cumbersome process that is gone through to decide on those. 
It involves, obviously WA police, Treasury and the Office of the Auditor General. I will ask Deputy 
Commissioner Brown if he can make a comment in relation to the change or fluctuation in those 
percentages. 

Mr BROWN: To the first part of your question, a ballpark 17 per cent of the total effort of the agency 
is focused on traffic enforcement. That is evidenced by a central traffic command of in excess of 200 
police officers working here in Perth. Out in the regions, in each of the larger centres, there is a 
dedicated traffic unit. More specifically to the category A offences, prior to the implementation of 
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this KPI several years ago, what we were seeing was that police officers out in regional WA and 
sometimes in the metropolitan area were targeting low-level offences that had little, if any, bearing 
on road trauma in this state. I do recall an incident where at Jurien Bay, I think it was, or Lancelin, a 
couple of our officers issued in the vicinity of about 30 infringements on one particular weekend for 
boating enthusiasts who did not have a red flag on the back of their boat when they towed the boat 
away. Our position was to push them into that sort of enforcement that we know has a bearing on 
road safety outcomes, the target being 90 per cent. We still want them to apply some discretion 
around those because we want to police all the road rules and enforce them, but we do want to 
make sure that targets are set and that officers’ minds out there are focused on those things that 
bring about the greatest net effect on road user behaviour. 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: I refer to page 341 and the income statement. Can you advise what 
income is derived from criminal property confiscation, be that crime-derived, crime-used or 
unexplained wealth? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: We might take that one on notice. It does not seem that we have that 
information readily at hand. If you are happy, we will provide that by way of supplementary 
information. 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: Sure. 

[Supplementary Information No D3.] 

Hon AARON STONEHOUSE: I have a similar question, which I am happy to take on notice if need be. 
What income is derived from traffic infringements? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Again, we do not have that level of detail with us tonight, so we will provide 
that by way of supplementary information. 

[Supplementary Information No D4.] 

Hon COLIN TINCKNELL: I refer to budget paper No 2, volume 2, page 332. From the second and third 
dot points, I note that an estimated 80 per cent of property offenders have a significant history of 
drug use, with methamphetamine driving users to commit robberies, burglaries, and to steal and 
arm themselves with weapons. How does this 80 per cent statistic compare with last year? In other 
words, have activities with the methamphetamine enforcement task force and the meth border 
force impacted on this statistic? 

[5.40 pm] 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Thank you, Madam Chair. Member, thank you for that question. I will ask 
the commissioner to initially reply, and then his answer will be supplemented by Deputy 
Commissioner Brown. 

Mr DAWSON: Thank you, Madam Chair. The assessment by our state crime command refers to the 
80 per cent estimation. That is somewhat complemented by a number of other statistical 
assessments. Scientifically—and it is a scientific measure—the drug use monitoring program that 
has been conducted by the Australian Institute of Criminology, of which I was a former director, has 
been for over 20 years conducting both interviews of detainees in police lock-ups and watch houses 
around Australia for some several decades. That is a proven set of evidential data which is 
complemented by persons interviewing detainees to ask not only what are they in custody for, but 
what drugs may they have ingested, or what type of offences do they commit in order to buy drugs. 
So that is a sustained piece of criminology that is being done and is world leading in the way it does. 
That is complemented further by urinalysis, the number of detainees that voluntarily submit their 
urine for sample, and then of course the labs are demonstrating that in regard to 
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methylamphetamine, Western Australia has consistently provided a higher level of 
methylamphetamine in the urinalysis of persons in custody then and there, albeit it is a smaller 
cohort. 

There are several other instruments that complement that. There is a national drug household 
survey, which is less robust scientifically, because you are asking people by way of survey 
instruments what type of drugs they use and how often they use them, but, again, that is further 
added to with the national drug wastewater analysis of all the waterways across Australia. Western 
Australia Police has also expanded that wastewater analysis to not only Perth and some other 
regional locations, but into some smaller remote communities as well, and that work is ongoing. So 
there is a combined set of data in which our state crime command made an assessment of some 
80 per cent. 

We will continue to draw down from a whole lot of different assessments both from what persons 
say they use, what the drug wastewater analysis shows, and what other assessments we will provide 
from that through our intelligence catchment as well. I do not wish to overcomplicate it, but it is 
quite a complex piece of work, because drug dealers do not put in ABNs; it is a black market, so we 
must rely on a whole raft of different datasets to draw down from. 

Hon COLIN TINCKNELL: Imagine if we had no cash. 

Mr DAWSON: So, with that, the last part to your question is: what is the impact of the work being 
done by the meth task force? I will ask Deputy Commissioner Brown to head up that task force. He 
will add to what I initially respond. In the current financial year to date, Western Australia, 
complemented with our other national partners, has seized far more methylamphetamine. It is 
approaching 1.4 tonnes, which in our assessment is large not only by way of volume, but we know 
from our statistical capture that that is a considerable amount that is impacting on how much drugs 
we estimate are being used within our community. Regional Western Australia does indicate over 
the last three years a higher proportion of usage in regional Western Australia than anywhere else 
in Australia in regard to crystal methylamphetamine. It is not, though, the same for other drug types 
such as cocaine. We are very low in both the detection and the use of cocaine; it is much higher in 
other places such as New South Wales. It seems that the drug market in Western Australia is far 
more addicted to meth or ice, and that does present a problem. There is a correlation between the 
amount of thefts that occur because persons say to us that they are stealing because of their need 
to buy meth, so that is why there is a high correlation. With the consent of Madam Chair, Deputy 
Commissioner Brown may add to what I have already said. 

Mr BROWN: Thank you, Madam Chair. In addition to the commissioner’s part there, we have now 
allocated 90 of the 120 FTE allocated under this program of work, which is $83 million funded over 
four years. The focus is all on targeting the supply at the borders of the state of Western Australia 
with our counterparts, both nationally and internationally, and I would suggest that that work, in its 
infancy as the teams come into place and build, will have a significant impact on the supply of meth 
in this state. We have chosen very carefully as to how we deploy and how we recruit those people, 
both in the overt and the covert areas of policing, and we have combined not only the talents of 
those individuals themselves with collaboration across the country, but we have also bought new 
technology and new equipment, which is enabling us to scan parcels in the Australia Post network, 
working with border force counterparts to do more in the ports and to do more across the transport 
system itself, both on the roads in the metropolitan area, but also significantly in regional 
Western Australia. Some of the efforts that were borne about and seen and covered in the media 
in recent days in the Pilbara are all part of this program of work. We are using the wastewater testing 
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to advise us and help us focus where we should put our effort on the ground, and you will continue 
to see that over time. 

Hon COLIN TINCKNELL: It is still just a bit early to really see the impact yet. Thank you. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: My first question is directed to page 332 of the budget papers and the 
reference to “Government Regional Officer Housing”. If I read this right, there has been a reduction 
in expenditure in the order of $2.8 million in 2017–18, and that is going to increase markedly over 
the forward estimates. Can you explain how that comes about and what are the implications for 
police officers in regional areas? How is the reduction in expenditure being made up in terms of 
services to police officers, and what is the significance of the figures? How does it work? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Thank you, member. Madam Chair, we did have a line of questioning in 
relation to this issue earlier on asked by the Honourable Charles Smith, so we provided some detail 
in answering that, but I will ask Acting Deputy Commissioner Steel if he can provide further 
information. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I thought his emphasis was slightly different, but anyway. 

Mr STEEL: Thank you, Madam Chair, if I can. We can provide further information on supplementary. 
What I will say is that not all properties leased are leased specifically through the GROH program; 
there are some private rentals as well which impact those figures. Likewise, the tenant rent setting 
framework guides some of our expenditure in relation to GROH accommodation. As indicated 
previously there are 55 locations that are not subject to GROH rentals—they are rent-free 
locations—and, in addition, officers in charge are also not subject to paying for GROH rentals. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: All right. Turning to page 114 of volume 3, just as a convenient means of 
doing it, there is stated in the summary, under “Election Commitments”, “Senior Executive Service 
Reductions”, and reductions in the order of half a million dollars over each of this year and the 
succeeding three years, and expenditure in this coming year of $13.5 million on the voluntary 
targeted separation scheme, and then some figures into the forward estimates there. Can you 
indicate just how many members of the senior executive service are having their services dispensed 
with in order to make up those savings; also, under the voluntary targeted separation scheme, how 
many people seem to be having their services dispensed with in the police, and what those positions 
are likely to be? What sorts of services are we going to have to do without as a result of the voluntary 
separation scheme? I presume that these people will not be replaced if they are not required at the 
moment. 

[5.50 pm] 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Again, there are a couple of different issues there, so let us do them one 
by one. In relation to your first question around the reduction of the senior executive service, 
members would again be aware that it was an election commitment of the now McGowan 
government at the last election to reduce the number of SES positions by 20 per cent. The WA Police 
Force undertook a review of current senior executive service positions, which has delivered a 
reduction of two senior executive service positions. One position came from the office of the 
Commissioner of Police and one from the Road Safety Commission. These reductions have resulted 
in savings harvested of $2.25 million over the forward estimates. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: What were those positions? Are you able to say? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: The positions were the director from the office of the Commissioner of 
Police and the director from the Road Safety Commission—there were two positions; one in each 
agency. 
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In relation to the voluntary targeted separation scheme, I might ask Mr Pasquale to provide an 
answer. 

Mr PASQUALE: To date, 42 positions from across the organisation have fallen under that scheme. I 
do not have those position details here this evening, but those positions have been abolished and 
offered the redundancy program. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: Just to be clear, member, they are public servant or public sector worker 
positions, so they are essentially white-collar workers. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: They will no doubt be happy that they will be funding a 24-hour police 
station somewhere. What I am interested in is what the nature of those positions might be or was, 
and whether the work that those people were doing has been simply reallocated or they are being 
replaced by some new positions being created at some different level. Can I have that information 
perhaps by way of a supplementary answer? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: We do not have that level of detail here with us this evening. We will 
provide by way of supplementary information what those 42 positions generally were. 

[Supplementary Information No D5.] 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: This is a Department of Justice initiative that was announced last year, with 
some $850 000 allocated to a thing called a justice pipeline model, which was supposed to trace the 
consequences of making changes to the justice system and how it would affect other agencies and 
components of the justice system, including, presumably, police. Can you tell us whether the police 
have had any input into that, and the changes that may be effected by, say, changes to legislation 
by one portfolio and how it flows into the police service? I see on page 332 a thing called the justice 
architecture model, which had its funding finish last year. I am not sure whether that is related to it 
in any way. How does this cross-agency efficiency and evidence mapping and data gathering involve 
the police? What contribution is being made by the police towards that modelling exercise, and how 
has it affected you to date, or has it not been implemented? 

The CHAIR: Minister, I will ask that that question be answered as quickly as possible. I have one 
more member to fit in with one question. 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: There is no line item in our budget in relation to the justice pipeline model, 
but I will make some brief comments and then the commissioner might be able to supplement them. 
At the 2017–18 state budget, the state government did endorse the development of a justice 
pipeline model for the Western Australian criminal justice system. An integrated model of the 
criminal justice system will assist the state government to make informed decisions. The justice 
pipeline simulates the forecast activity across the criminal justice system and estimates the 
downstream impact of future policy and parameter changes, including costs. The model does not 
specifically focus on Aboriginal people as a target group; rather, it focuses on the justice sector as a 
whole. Saying that, and noting the guidance by the Chair, I might ask the commissioner if he is able 
to make some brief further comments in relation to his agency’s involvement. 

Mr DAWSON: There is a project working group that is supported across agencies, including the 
Department of Justice, the Department of Corrective Services and the Director of Public 
Prosecutions. I also have an assistant commissioner sitting on that working group. They are 
developing a modular approach to the development, which would involve the development of 
court-sensing modules and decisions and outcomes relating to the most serious of offences. We are 
well aware of the government commitment to the reduction of particularly Indigenous persons, who 
are presently over-represented, certainly in being incarcerated and processed through the courts. 
Some of the additional work that is allied to the justice system involves some further progress that 
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has been reflected in the state forensic centres. We have recently been negotiating a new lease and 
some additional funding—some $3.4 million has been provided by the Department of Finance for 
the relocation of our forensic capabilities. That will very much impact on the number of prisoners 
who are presently remanded in custody. We are seeking and actively working towards further 
enhancements there, not only in the prioritisation of enhanced DNA and other forensic evidence. 
At times the courts have criticised the number of persons that are being held in custody and, indeed, 
the coronial matters that are waiting on toxicology and drug analysis and DNA analysis. They are 
part of a compendium of a program of works which we consider will accelerate the number of 
matters that may be brought before the courts far quicker, by improving the analysis and by 
grouping together the various disparate forensic services, complemented by additional scanners 
and better robotics. 

Hon MARTIN ALDRIDGE: I am just following on from the issue raised earlier in relation to the 
procurement of a replacement helicopter, in part funded by the road trauma trust account. I have 
a question for the police commissioner, through you, minister. Does the police commissioner agree 
with the assessment of Mr Iain Cameron, chairman of the Road Safety Council and Road Safety 
Commissioner, that the council was not able to identify evidence of quantifiable road safety benefits 
and cost benefits? 

Hon STEPHEN DAWSON: I will ask the commissioner if he can make a comment. 

Mr DAWSON: I have read the report that provided the research backdrop to the 38 per cent 
assessment. I agree with that report. I am confident that the report is accurate in its assessment of 
the amount of time that our existing air fleet are using in terms of pursuing evading drivers. It is a 
very dangerous practice for police to be in close, hot pursuit. We know that not only through the 
tragedies of some six fatalities on which the State Coroner delivered an inquest finding. The coroner, 
I think unusually, made an additional finding in her inquest conclusions, recommending that the 
police helicopter fleet be expanded because of the value of the police helicopter in supporting on-
the-ground police. What we do tactically is that we withdraw from immediate, close, physical 
pursuit where such drivers are behaving and driving so dangerously and recklessly. We are able to 
withdraw our vehicles to a safer distance. We are able to monitor real time, air capturing it through 
our infrared and closed-circuit television capture through the FLIR program on the police 
helicopters, and complementing that with some speed vehicle deflation devices, commonly known 
as stingers, and other products. Police can then be prepositioned and deployed to deflate the tyres 
of the vehicles. It can preposition police vehicles in areas—the police helicopter communicates in 
real time to pursuing police. 

Aside from that, they are regularly deployed to identify speeding drivers, in particular motorcyclists, 
who are a high-risk group in terms of being over-represented in those riders being killed or seriously 
injured. They routinely identify such high-speed motorcyclists and then communicate that to the 
police. I support the analysis. I do not personally sit on the Road Safety Council—one of my assistant 
commissioners does. I know that that delegation does flow through. I have not had direct 
representation to the Road Safety Commission. While administratively Mr Cameron does report to 
me, I think it is very important that there is a separation between the analysis conducted by the 
Road Safety Council members. The majority, of course, are not in my employ; only one of my 
employees sits on the council aside from the Road Safety Commissioner, who administratively does 
report to me. I intentionally am separated from that process because there is in fact a conflict, 
because I, as commissioner, administer funds that are drawn down from the road trauma trust 
account. So I think there is a clear separation, which I think is proper for all, for both ethical and 
transparency reasons. 
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The CHAIR: Thanks, commissioner. That draws to an end this hearing with the WA Police Force. 

On behalf of the committee, I would like to thank you for your attendance today. The committee 
will forward the transcript of evidence, which includes the questions you have taken on notice 
highlighted on the transcript, within seven days of the hearing. If members have any unasked 
questions, I ask them to submit these via the electronic lodgement system on the POWAnet site by 
5.00 pm on Wednesday, 27 June. Responses to these questions and any questions taken on notice 
are due by 12 noon on Friday, 13 July. Should you be unable to meet this due date, please advise 
the committee in writing as soon as possible before the due date. The advice is to include specific 
reasons as to why the due date cannot be met. Once again, I thank you for your attendance today. 

Hearing concluded at 6.02 pm 

__________ 
 


